ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE LABOR AND COVMERCE STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 11, 2009
3:18 p.m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Kurt O son, Chair
Representative Mark Neuman, Vice Chair
Representative Robert L. "Bob" Buch
Representative M ke Chenaul t
Representati ve John Coghill
Representati ve Li ndsey Hol nes
Representative Bob Lynn

MEMBERS ABSENT
Al'l nmenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO. 85

"An Act extending the termnation date of the State Board of
Regi stration for Architects, Engineers, and Land Surveyors; and
providing for an effective date."

- MOVED HB 85 OQUT OF COW TTEE

HOUSE RESCLUTI ON NO. 5

Qpposing any federal legislation that seeks to elimnate the
private election phase of wunion recognition canpaigns or that
seeks to inpose conpul sory and binding arbitration on enpl oyers.

- HEARD AND HELD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 85

SHORT TI TLE: EXTEND BD ARCHI TECTS/ ENG NEERS/ SURVEYORS
SPONSOR(s): LABOR & COMMERCE

01/ 26/ 09 (H) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 26/ 09 (H) L&C, FIN
02/ 11/ 09 (H) L&C AT 3:15 PM BARNES 124

BILL: HR' 5

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -1- February 11, 2009



SHORT TI TLE: OPPOSI NG FEDERAL EMPLOYEE FREE CHO CE ACT
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) JOHNSON

01/ 30/ 09 (H) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 30/ 09 (H) L&C
02/ 11/ 09 (H) L&C AT 3:15 PM BARNES 124

W TNESS REG STER

KONRAD JACKSOQN, St aff

Representative Kurt O son

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: As staff for the House Labor and Commerce
St andi ng Conmittee, presented HB 85 on behal f of the sponsor.

PAT DAVI DSON, Legislative Auditor

Di vision of Legislative Audit

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented auditor findings and
recommendati ons and answered questions on the AELS Board audit
recommendat i ons.

CRAI G FREDEEN, PE, Mechani cal, Board Menber; Vice-Chair,

Board of Registration for Architects, Engineers, and Land
Surveyors (AELS)

Department of Commerce, Community, & Economic Devel opnent
( DCCED)

Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified and answered questions during the
di scussi on of HB 85.

TERRY SCHOENTHAL, Memnber

Al aska Professional Design Council (APDC); and the American
Soci ety of Landscape Architects (ASLA)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified and answered questions during the
di scussi on of HB 85.

HARLEY HI GHTOAER, Architect Menber, Board of Registration for
Architects, Engineers, and Land Surveyors (AELS)

Department of Commerce, Community, & Economic Devel opnent
( DCCED)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Testified and answered questions during the
di scussi on on HB 85.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -2- February 11, 2009



BURDETT LENT, Landscape Architect Menber

Board of Registration for Architects, Engineers, and Land
Surveyors (AELS)

Department of Commerce, Community, & Economic Devel opnent
( DCCED)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion on HB 85.

FRANK RAST, P.E.; President

Al aska Professional Design Council (APDC)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Testified and answered questions during the
di scussi on on HB 85.

REPRESENTATI VE CRAI G JOHNSON

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified as prinme sponsor of HR and
answered questions during the discussion of HR 5.

RCD BETI T, President

Al aska State Hospital & Nursing Home Associ ati on ( ASHNHA)
Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HR 5.

M CHAEL HUFF, Task Force Director

Anmeri can Legi sl ative Exchange Council (ALEC)

Washi ngton, D.C.

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HR 5, and answered
questions during the discussion on HR 5.

ROBERTA BROOKS, Busi ness Representative

| nternational Brotherhood of Electrical Wrkers (1 BEW

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HR 5.

JOHN BROWN, Retired

Oper ati ng Engi neers

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HR 5.

DENNI S KNEBEL, Busi ness Representative

I nt ernati onal Brotherhood of Electrical Wrkers (IBEW

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the discussion of HR 5.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 3- February 11, 2009



AVES THOWPSON, Executive Director

Al aska Trucki ng Associ ation, Inc.

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HR 5 and answered
guestions during the discussion of HR 5.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
3:18: 14 PM

CHAIR KURT OLSON called the House Labor and Commerce Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 3:18 p.m Representatives Buch,
Chenault, Coghill, Lynn, and O son were present at the call to
order. Representati ve Neuman and Representative Holnmes arrived
as the neeting was in progress.

HB 85- EXTEND BD ARCHI TECTS/ ENG NEERS/ SURVEYORS

3:18: 21 PM

HOUSE BILL NO. 85, "An Act extending the term nation date of the
State Board of Registration for Architects, Engineers, and Land
Surveyors; and providing for an effective date."

3:18: 42 PM

KONRAD JACKSON, Staff, Representative Kurt O son and the House
Labor and Commerce Standing Conmttee, explained that HB 85
would extend the Board of Regi stration for Architects,
Engi neers, and Land Surveyors (AELS) for eight years. He
related that the Legislative Budget & Audit Conmttee (LB&A)
recomended the AELS board should be extended from June 2009 to
June 30, 2017.

3:19:45 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH asked for clarification of the bill’s
pur pose.

3:20: 00 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL asked the auditor to explain the three
recommendations contained in the legislative audit, Audit
Control Number 08-20058-08.

3:20: 47 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -4- February 11, 2009



PAT DAVIDSON, Legislative Auditor, Division of Legislative
Audit, Alaska State Legislature, explained to nenbers that
various boards and conm ssions throughout the state are under
sunset laws, which means the boards have specific termnation
dates associated wth them The Division of Corporations,
Busi ness, and Prof essional Li censing (DCBPL) within the
Department of Commerce, Community, & Economic Devel opnent
(DCCED) regulate nost of the licensing boards that are subject
to sunset provi si ons. She further explained that the
Legislative Audit Division is required under law to review the
board’s activities and specific criteria to determne if the
board is operated in the public interest. As a result of its
audit, the Legislative Budget & Audit Conmittee (LB&A) reviewed
and approved the legislative audit that determned the AELS
Board is operating in the public's best interest and its
termnation date should be extended. Based on the LB&A' s
review, the DCBPL also recommended the board should be extended
for eight years, which is June 30, 2017

3:21: 55 PM

M5. DAVIDSON detailed that in the course of the audit review
auditors identified three areas for inprovenent. First, the
auditors found that the AELS board had been hanpered by unfilled
vacanci es. The LB&A recommended to the Ofice of the Governor
that appointnents should be nmde tinely. She related her
understanding that appointnments have been made, although the
| egi sl ature has not yet confirnmed the AELS board appoi nt ees.

M5. DAVI DSON explained that the auditors analyzed the finances
of the AELS Board. By law, all boards are required to be
financially self-sufficient, neaning the fees collected through
licensing actions should cover the operating costs. She offered
that the auditors discovered a surplus generated over the past
few years for the AELS board. The auditors reconmended that the
DCBPL reduce the AELS fees and the DCCED concurred with the
recommendat i on.

M5. DAVIDSON offered the third audit reconmmendati on, which was
for “a little better housekeeping” as it refers to obtaining the
requi red paperwork when issuing licenses to limted liability
corporations (LLC) and Ilimted liability partnerships (LLP)
She expl ained that certain docunents were nissing from applicant
files. She highlighted that the problem was not considered
pervasive, but the problem needed to be corrected. The DCCED
agreed to the changes, she stated.

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE - 5- February 11, 2009



3:23: 35 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH inquired as to whether reductions in fees
have been identified.

VB. DAVI DSON answered that the AELS board’'s finances are

reviewed at the end of each alternate fiscal year. When the
LB&A recommends fees should be reduced, the DCCED sets the fees
in consultation wth the board. She offered that a few
professions are licensed by the AELS board, and that several
exam nations are admnistered for the professions. The LB&A
does not identify which fees should be reduced, just that the
DCCED should nmke an assessnent. She noted that if a |large
regul atory project is forthcom ng or pending, the departnent my
reduce the fees less than if overall expenditures are

anticipated to be static.
3:34: 49 PM

CRAIG FREDEEN, P.E.; Vice-Chair, Board of Registration for
Architects, Engineers and Land Surveyors (AELS), Departnent of
Commerce, Community, & Econom c Devel opnent (DCCED), began his
testimony by stating that he wrks for PDC Engineers in
Anchorage and has served on the AELS Board since 2004. He
expl ained that the AELS board has been following the issue of

Canadian licensure very closely, including neeting with the
prof essional engineers of Canada, who are referred to as a
“P. Eng” . He advised that the P.Eng’s have given presentations
to the AELS Board and have attended regi onal and annual neetings
of the National Council of Examners for Engineering and
Surveying (NCEES) for many years. The interest has increased

due to the proposed gas pipeline, he stated. He related that he
is a registered nechanical engineer and cannot speak to
architects’ and | andscape architects’ involvenment. In My, sone
board nenbers hope to attend the upcom ng Western Zone neeting,
the regional neeting of the NCEES, pending travel approval,
which will be held in Banff, Canada. He enphasized that the
Canadi an engineers are very interested in obtaining comty wth
Al aska and ot her states.

VR. FREDEEN explained that the nethodology for Canadian
licensure differs fromthe United States (US). He characterized
the Canadian process as nore of a journeyman process for
licensure, while the US relies on four years of education,

experience, and t wo exam nat i ons, t he Fundanent al s of
Engi neeri ng exam (FE) and the Professional Engineering exam (PE)
for licensure. Thus, the nodels do not nesh well, he opined

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 6- February 11, 2009



He related that the AELS has relaxed its licensure rules to
al l ow Canadi ans to waive the FE exam which is the exam taken as
a college senior or right out of college. The process for
licensure includes that engineering applications nust take the
PE exam nation approximately four years |later. He further
related that nuch discussion needs to take place to determ ne
sol utions for t he PE license requi r enent in Al aska.
Additionally, he expressed concern that the AELS board has for
Al askan engi neers seeking licensure in Canada. He offered that
sone states such as Nevada and Texas accept comty licensure
but Al aska is not yet ready to take that step.

3:46: 05 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL related his concern, which is to ensure
t hat di scussions continue. He said he hopes that the AELS board

will share any conclusions it reaches with the |egislature. He
said the legislature m ght ask why other states can offer comty
licensure, yet Alaska cannot. He highlighted that the
| egislature could introduce a bill to focus dialogue on the
reciprocity issue. He expressed interest in figuring out how
Al aska’s qualifications for engineering can fit into the
journeyman process of Canadian licensure so that Al askan

engi neers can work in Canada.

CHAI R OLSON asked if a trade group was working on the licensure
i ssue.

MR. FREDEEN said he did not believe so. He nentioned that
menbers of US |icensure boards have been in discussion wth
representatives of the Canadian |icensure board. He expl ai ned
that the AELS board chair, M. Brownfield, has attended severa
nmeetings with respect to |icensure.

3:47:51 PM
REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL opi ned that presents a classic exanple of
why the AELS board should not be extended to 2017 and possibly
the legislature could “ratchet that back” to force a discussion
on comty.

3:48: 20 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH inquired as to whether the professional
associ ations are international organizations.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -7- February 11, 2009



MR. FREDEEN answered yes, that the AELS board is a nenber of the
NCEES for engineering, the National Council of Architectural
Regi stration Boards (NCARB) for architects, and the Council of

Landscape Architects (CLARB) for |andscape architects. He
stated that each state’'s licensing board is a nenber of the
nat i onal or gani zati on. He explained that the national

organi zations own the exans, and that nenber boards attend
annual and regional meetings to discuss issues such as
international licensure. He pointed out that various agreenents
bet ween nations exist to allow licensed design professionals to
work in the U'S. and other countries. He highlighted that
countries such as the United Kingdom (UK) belong to the
Washi ngton Accord. The agreenents sort through issues such as
di ssecting the degree prograns offered by foreign universities
to ensure that the candi dates have met the m ni num standards for
education as well as any other requirenents for the |icensure
pr ocess. He stated at the international level “we’re not there
yet” wth respect to international |icensure for engineers.
However, the NCEES is offering the licensure examnations in
foreign cities such as Cairo, Egypt and is working to offer nore
| ocations for engineers to take engineering exam nations
over seas.

REPRESENTATIVE BUCH inquired as to whether any collaboration
effort exists to neld licensure for reciprocity.

MR. FREDEEN expl ai ned that each state makes its own regul ations
and statutes for comty licensure. Wile sonme discussions occur

at the national level to ensure that |icensing requirenents are
the same, differences still exist. He opined that other
countries still need to work out comty equivalency from nation
to state on a state-by-state basis. In the nmeantinme, engineers

from other countries nust obtain licensure by comty by neeting
Al aska’s requirenments, just as engineers from other states nust
do so. He enphasized that restrictions on degrees obtained from
ot her countries do not exist. Thus, every engineer in the world

has a process to obtain licensure in Al aska, but mninum
qualifications nust be net to ensure public safety. He rel ated
his understanding that a “straight acr oss, one-for-one”

| i censure process does not exist.
3:52: 44 PM
CHAI R OLSON opined that the commttee would like reciprocity so

that Al askan engineers can also obtain licensure, particularly
with Canadian licensure. He offered the conmttee’'s assi stance.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 8- February 11, 2009



MR. FREDEEN expressed concern that currently when Canada issues

a license to an Al askan engineer that the |icense nane for
foreign license is different, although he could not recall the
desi gnat i on. He nentioned that the title for foreign engineers

is a foreign P.Eng. M. Fredeen highlighted that the P.Eng
title is reserved solely for Canadi an engi neers, while Canadi ans
registered in Alaska are issued the title professional engineer
(P.E.) just without differentiating themfrom Al askan P.E. ’s.

CHAIR OLSON reiterated his offer for l|egislative assistance to
the AELS board on reciprocity between the U S. and Canada.

3:55: 05 PM

TERRY SCHOENTHAL, Menber, Al aska Professional Design Counci

(APDC), and the Anerican Society of Landscape Architects (ASLA),
expl ained that the state has |licensed | andscape architects since
1998. He related that currently 49 states |icense |andscape
architects. Since 1998, |andscape architects have held a
tenporary non-voting position on the AELS Board. He expl ai ned
the rationale for this is that not many | andscape architects are

i censed in Alaska as conpared to the other desi gn
pr of essi onal s. However, ten years has passed and the | andscape
architect nmenber is still a non-voting ex-officio tenporary
menber. He surmsed that this status may be the only one of its
type anong all the state’s |icensing boards. He acknow edged
that licensing of |andscape architects will continue when the
tenporary non-voting |andscape architect nenbership on the AELS
board disappears on June 30, 2009. However, since |andscape
architects will continue to be l|icensed, nenbers representing
other professions will make determ nations on qualifications for

| icensure without input froma | andscape architect.

MR. SCHOENTHAL, expressed concern that a |icensed |andscape
architect has volunteered his/her tine on the AELS board during
the past ten years, which represents substantial tinme and effort
taken on his/her part. Yet, the |andscape architect board
menber never had the opportunity to vote on any issues that cane
before the AELS Board. He appl auded and comended the service
of the two volunteer |andscape architects who have served in
that capacity for ten years. He opined that it my be
beneficial to the state to have a licensed |andscape architect
board nenber review |andscape architect applications for
i censure.

3:57:50 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -9- February 11, 2009



MR. SCHCENTHAL, in response to Representative Hol nmes, answered
that changing the non-voting tenporary nenber to a permanent
AELS nenber would require a statute change. He offered that in
2005, a bill passed the legislature that extended the tenporary
non-voting position until 2009.

CHAIR OLSON explained that the commttee used the |legislative
auditor’s recomendati ons when preparing HB 85. He related that
four years ago the legislative auditor reconmended the |andscape
architect for menbership on the AELS board, but t hat
recomrendati on was not nmade in current |egislative audit report.

3:58:40 PM

MR. SCHCENTHAL provided additional history of the |andscape
architect that in 2004 the LB&A s audit report recomended that

the I|andscape architect should be a voting position. He
hi ghlighted that in 2007, the AELS board recomended to convert
the tenporary |andscape architect position to a full voting

position. He nentioned that the APDC, an unbrella organization
of design professionals, voted to support the |andscape
architect position as a full voting nenber of the AELS board at
its January neeting. He stressed that at a mninum the
| andscape architects in Alaska would like to see the AELS board
mai ntain a non-voting |andscape architect position on the board.
However, the |andscape architect and other design professionals
fully support making the tenporary |andscape architect nenber a
full voting position of the AELS board.

3:59:45 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH expressed interest in the cost or additional
resources required to nake the non-voting |andscape architect a
per mmnent nenber of the AELS Board. He related that sone
conmittee nenbers do not know the practical aspects and
structure of the |licensing boards.

MR. SCHOENTHAL answered that the AELS board is entirely self-
sufficient, in that the professions cover all its costs through
bi ennial licensure fees. He further explained that other
prof essionals subsidize the |andscape architects since fewer
| andscape architects are |icensed. He highlighted that the
state does not cover the AELS board’ s costs or subsidize the
boar d. Thus, the request to maintain the existing |andscape
architect board nenber on the AELS board would not entai
addi ti onal funding.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 10- February 11, 2009



4:01:40 PM

HARLEY HI GHTONER, Architect Menber, Board of Registration for
Architects, Engineers and Land Surveyors (AELS), Departnment of
Commerce, Community, & Econom c Devel opnent (DCCED), stated that
he is a licensed architect who resides in Anchorage. He said he
has served on the AELS Board for four years. He offered that
the architects fall under the jurisdiction of the NCARB,
consisting of 53 nenber board nenber jurisdictions, including
all 50 states plus other jurisdictions including Puerto Rico,
and Guam

MR. H GHTONER expl ained that NCARB is working w th Canada. He
stated he serves on a national NCARB subcomrittee that wites

and updates the qualifying exam nation. He offered that the
NCARB has Canadi an nmenbership, as well, and Canadi ans al so take
the U S. licensure exam nations. He further explained that the

accrediting board al so has accredited some Canadi an
uni versities. Additionally, the NCARB is currently negotiating
w th European conpanies and Asia for cooperative agreenents and
coll aborates with various countries for comty |icensure and
parity in licensing standards, he nentioned.

4:03:17 PM

MR H GHTOAER, in response to Chair dson, answered that
Canadi an architects have reciprocity in Al aska. He highli ghted
that the NCARB is further along with reciprocity in Canada than
wi th other countries.

4:03: 34 PM

MR. H GHTONER, in response to Representative Buch, stated that
Canada appears to be open to working with Al aska. He offered
that currently Canada has nore engineering work than it has
engi neers. Therefore, Canada is nore open to reciprocity, he
opi ned.

4. 05:15 PM

BURDETT LENT, Landscape Architect Menber , Board of Registration
for Architects, Engineers and Land Surveyors (AELS), Departnent
of Conmerce, Community, & Econonic Devel opnent (DCCED) expl ained
that he is a licensed |andscape architect in Anchorage. He
offered that the |andscape architects work cooperatively wth
Canada and that Canadians are also nenbers of their national
organi zati on, CLARB. Thus, Canadi an |andscape architects are

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -11- February 11, 2009



subject to the sane licensing requirenents as U.S. |andscape
architects, he advised.

FRANK RAST, P.E., stated he is the current president of the
Al aska  Prof essional Design  Counci | ( APDC) , an unbrella
organi zati on of design professionals. He explained that the
AELS board works to ensure the safety of Alaskans by ensuring
that design professionals are qualified. He said he agrees with
Representative Neuman that the legislature can remand the
licensing board if the board is not operating within the desires
of the legislature. He opined that the AELS Board is the best
vehicle to ensure engineers, architects, and |and surveyors
outside of Al aska who perform work within Al aska neet standards
that protect the public health, safety, and welfare of Al askans.

He suggested that in any profession unethical people will work
outside their practice and jeopardize the public health. Thus,
it is critical to have a Ilicensing board, he noted. He

reiterated that the LB&\ audit indicates that the design
prof essionals pay the AELS board expenses through their |icense

f ees. In fact, he advised a surplus currently exists for the
AELS board since |icensed AELS nenbers have paid nore in fees
than total AELS board expenses in the past few years. He
offered his wllingness to pay fees to ensure continued

pr of essi onal conpetency in Al aska.
4:08: 35 PM

CHAIR OLSON, after first determning no one wshed to testify,
cl osed public testinmony on HB 85.

4:09: 04 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN noved to report HB 85, Version 26-LS0420\A
out of commttee wth individual recomendations and the
acconpanying fiscal notes. There being no objection, HB 85 was
reported fromthe House Labor and Commerce Standing Conmttee.

CHAIR OLSON offered his belief that the issue of the |andscape
architect nmenbership on the AELS Board was not included as a
| egislative audit recommendation and the nmatter should be
i ntroduced as a separate bill.

4:10: 43 PM

The commttee took an at-ease from4:10 p.m to 4:13 p. m

4:13:11 PM

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -12- February 11, 2009



HR 5- OPPCSI NG FEDERAL EMPLOYEE FREE CHO CE ACT

CHAIR OLSON announced that the next order of business would
HOUSE RESOLUTION NO 5, Opposing any federal legislation that
seeks to elimnate the private election phase of union
recognition canpaigns or that seeks to inmpose conpulsory and
bi nding arbitration on enpl oyers.™

4:13:17 PM

REPRESENTATI VE  CRAIG  JOHNSON, Al aska State Legi sl ature,
explained that HR 5 is a resolution directed to Washington D.C
to state opposition to pending federal legislation which is
referred to as the “Enployee Free Choice Act.” He related that
menbers of this body swore an oath to uphold and defend the
constitution of the State of Al aska. He offered that Al aska is
one of the few states in the union that has a privacy act in its
constitution. He opined that acts such as the Enployee Free
Choice Act (EFCA) clearly violate the freedom of privacy. He
offered his belief that it is tinme to use that clause to protect
busi nesses in the state. He pointed out that a new bill is not
currently before the Congress. He highlighted three areas that
seemto be present in nost of the bills of this type that would
fall into the category of “enployee free-choice” bills.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON related that sonme bills that fall into
the category of “enployee free choice” and renove the secret
ballot from the process of selecting union representation. He
offered a scenario in which soneone asks a group of enployees if
they want to join a union and once a sinple majority is reached,
the opportunity for a “secret ballot” evaporates. He recalled
during his childhood, he was asked to put his head on his desk
at school while his teacher explained the process for a secret
ballot. He opined that people all have a right to cast a secret
ballot, wthout threat or recourse. He enphasized the secret
ball ot represents a basic American prem se. He said, “This does
away with that.”

4:16: 07 PM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON stated the second thing that an “enpl oyee
free choice act” would do is to allow the federal governnent
undue access to Al askan business. He related that once cards
have been signed, within 30 days the federal governnent wll
requi re mandatory binding arbitration, wthout any negotiations.
Further, if one does not abide by the EFCA, the enployer can be

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 13- February 11, 2009



fined up to $20, 000. He surmsed that if +the wunion or
organi zi ng body does not abide by the EFCA, no penalty provision
woul d apply. Therefore, the EFCA violates the constitution in
terms of privacy, presents an undue burden to bring in the
federal governnment for binding arbitration, and is “very one-

sided.” He stated that copies of HR 5 will be sent to Al aska's
Congr essi onal Delegation and will ask them to oppose any simlar
| egi sl ati on. This resolution also encourages the governor to
fight and defend Al aska' s constitution and the U S. Constitution
at every opportunity. He stressed that HR 5 wll send the
nmessage to Washington D.C. that the legislature will protect and
defend the constitution. He rem nded nenbers of their sworn

oath of office. He further enphasized his desire to keep the
federal governnent out of Al aska.

4:18: 22 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN related his wunderstanding that pending
| egislation at the federal |evel would not allow people to vote
in secret, no matter what the issue is, although he said he
t hought this had to do with unions.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON agreed that the resolution relates to the
process of organizing unions. He explained the process to
organi ze does not allow people to cast ballots and cast votes to
determine an outconme to lead to the next step for union
representati on. He opined that since unions have burgeoned by
over 400,000 people in the past year that the current system
does not stifle unions’ grow h.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH poi nted out his understanding that HR 5 does
not elimnate the opportunity to forma union.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON answered that under the current |aw, “we
would still have that.” He stated under the “Enployee Free
Choice Act (EFCA)” that right to privacy would be renoved, a
requi renent for binding arbitration would be added, and would
beconme the way of organizing unions. He referred to HR 800, in
menbers packets, which he said is a bill that is working its way
t hrough t he Congress.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH asked for specific clarification.
REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON referred to page 3 of HR 800, which he
read, “The arbitration panel shall render a decision settling

the dispute and such decision shall be binding upon the parties
for a period of 2 years...” He said he was not certain this is

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -14- February 11, 2009



the specific provision he had in mnd. However, he opined that
the EFCA elimnates the right to vote. He related that
enpl oyees are given cards in a public nmanner and once the
organi zers receive 50 percent plus 1, binding arbitration is
triggered. He related that absent the binding arbitration that
a private vote would occur

4:23: 00 PM

REPRESENTATIVE BUCH related  his understanding that t he
opportunity for an election still exists. He asked in the event
of a certified election at the worksite how the election is
el i m nat ed.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON answered that an election would be

elimnated in the “card check” process. He explained that
enpl oyee is subject to public pressure to sign a card to join
t he wunion. Once a sinple majority is reached, it triggers

binding arbitration and an election, including a private ball ot
is elimnated.

4:23:45 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH offered the “card check” as representing
only one option. He reiterated his understanding that another
option exists under current law that also allows enployees the
option to hold an el ection.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON reiterated that under the “card check”
process, that an election would not be held. He stated the
proposed resolution would renove the option of “card checks”
which would elimnate a private ballot election.

4:24: 25 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH related his understanding that HR 5 would
elimnate options for enpl oyees.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON agreed, if that neans enpl oyees woul d not
have the privacy offered under a “secret ballot.” He pointed
out that small businesses are targeted by union organi zers. He
offered a scenario in which 11 of 20 people in a conpany “sign a
card” that the vote is elimnated and binding arbitration is
triggered. The binding arbitration process takes two years,
during which tine the federal governnent dictates the wage and
benefits the enployer will pay, he opined. He enphasized that 9

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE - 15- February 11, 2009



people in the described scenario will not have a “say in what to
do” and woul d never get a chance to vote on the matter.

4:26:10 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN recalled the 20 person enployee scenario
Represent ati ve Johnson descri bed. He related his understanding
that wunder legislation |ike proposed HR 800, that the person
woul d sign their card in private.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON described the ballot process that would
consi st of the enployee receiving a ballot that asks whether the
enpl oyee wants to join a union and he/she would check “yes or
no” in the privacy of a ballot booth. He contrasted the ball ot
voting process with the “card check” in which the person signs a
card, and is subject to everyone knowi ng how he/she voted and
frompressure by the enployer and the union.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSQON, in further response to Representative
Neuman, explained that under current |aw, enployees cast ballots
in voting booths and how they vote is private. Under proposed
HR 800 and simlar |egislation, the enployee would not have that
right.

4:28:15 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN asked for further clarification. He related
hi s understanding that binding arbitration does not occur unless
t he managenment and union still cannot reach an agreenent after
120 days.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON agreed. He said he stands corrected. He
agreed that binding arbitration would take place after
negoti ati ons.

ROCD BETIT, President, Alaska State Hospital & Nursing Hone
Associ ation (ASHNHA), stated that he represents the Alaska State
Hospital and Nursing Hone Association (ASHNHA), which consists
of 27 private, federal, state, and tribal health care facilities
| ocated throughout Al aska. He expressed concern that
| egi sl ation such as HR 800 m ght pass at the federal |evel. He
reiterated that the ASHNHA shares the three concerns that one of
the sponsors of HR 5 nentioned in his testinony. He said, “W
would like to go on record that we strongly support this neasure
and urge its passage out of commttee.” He offered that if
necessary, the chief executive officers of ASHNHA nenbers are
also willing to testify and provide first-hand their concerns.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 16- February 11, 2009



4:31: 00 PM

MR BETIT, in response to Representative Buch, stated that
ASHNHA consists of nursing hones that serve the nedically
fragile that don’t require hospital-level care, but need skilled
nursing care. Thus, about half of the hospitals and five free-

standi ng nursing honmes are also nmenbers. In further response to
Representative Buch, M. Betit stated that physicians enployed
by hospitals would fall under the highest |evel professional

heal th care person that works for ASHNHA nenbers.
4:32:04 PM
REPRESENTATI VE BUCH asked whet her nurses are enpl oyed by ASHNA.

MR. BETIT ventured that his organization is the |argest enployer
of nurses.

REPRESENTATIVE BUCH inquired as to the level of health care
offered for its retired nurses.

MR. BETIT answered that health care benefits for retired nurses
depends on the facility. He related that sonme benefit plans
fall under the Public Enployees Retirenment System (PERS) system
others are private facilities.

4:32:53 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH opined that nost nurses do not have health
care as a condition of their retirenent. He opined that needs
to be addressed. He enphasi zed that providing adequate health
care for nurses is inportant to him

MR. BETIT offered to provide the information to Representative
Buch about health care benefits for retired nurses.

M CHAEL HUFF, Task Force Director, American Legislative Exchange
Council (ALEC), stated that the Anerican Legislative Exchange
Council (ALEC) is the nation’s largest non-partisan organi zation
for state |egislators. He offered ALEC s strong support for HR

5. He nentioned that ALEC s nenbers previously adopted a
simlar resolution two years ago on this issue. He offered the
bi ggest issue relates to the issue of the secret ballot. He

referred to the steps for a union recognition canpaign, which
are outlined in the National Labor Relations Act of 1935 (NLRA)
the primary | aw governing rel ati ons between unions and enpl oyers

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -17- February 11, 2009



in the private sector. He mentioned that the NLRA was drafted
inits current formin 1947. First, enployees will sign a card,
and once 30 percent of the enployees have signed the card, a
secret ballot election is held, simlar to elections for
candi dates that are elected in the United States. He enphasized
the reason for this is to free enployees from harassnent and
intimdation, as well as to find out the true intent of the
voter. Once the election is held, by a majority vote, then the
wor kpl ace i s unioni zed.

4:35:51 PM

MR. HUFF related that currently when these elections are held,
that 60 percent of the time the unions prevail. El ection rates
have remai ned constant since 1996, according to data statistics
recorded by ALEC, under the dinton and Bush Adm nistrations.

MR. HUFF said that what pending federal l|egislation would do is
to renove the secret ballot of the election and would solely use
the “card check” nethod. He reiterated that ALEC believes that
removing the secret ballot would expose enpl oyees to harassnent
and intimdation. He offered testinony from the Congressiona
hearings during the 1935 process that changed the NLRA Act to a
secret ballot. He related specific testinmony that said that for
the last 14 years as a result of labor laws, ill conceived and
di sastrously executed, the Anerican working man has been
deprived of his dignity as an individual, has been cajoled,
coerced, and intimdated on many occasions, and beaten up. He
nmentioned that testinony was witten in 1947 when the federa
act was changed. He offered his belief that passing HR 5 would
be a strong stand and statenent that Al aska supports the right
of workers to vote by secret ballot.

4:38: 33 PM

ROBERTA BROOKS, Business Representative, stated that she is a
busi ness representative for the International Brotherhood of
El ectrical Wrkers (IBEW |ocal 1547 in Anchorage. She stated
that she has strong opinions with HR 5. She referred to page 2,
lines 23-29 of HR 5, regarding binding arbitration. She offered
her belief that the two clauses do not accurately describe what
happens at the bargaining table when the parties attenpt to
negotiate a contract. She nmentioned her 13 years of experience
with IBEW and her primary duties of negotiating and
adm nistering collective bargaining agreenents. During that
time, she offered that she is responsible for the vast majority
of first agreenments with newy organized enployers. Wi | e

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 18- February 11, 2009



contracts wer e of ten obt ai ned, frequently frustrating
ci rcunstances arose between the enployers and enployees that
| asted for years as a result of not obtaining a final agreenent.
She offered her belief that when both parties negotiate, that
the parties’ knowl edge that an independent third party wll
review the negotiations which creates an atnosphere in which the
enpl oyer and the wunion each strive to achieve a reasonable
negoti ati on. She opined that the atnosphere helps parties
devel op argunents that “pass the red face test.”

4:41:14 PM

M5. BROOKS referred to the language in HR 5 that states that
binding arbitration is fundanmentally unconstitutional and said
“Wth all due respect that is sinply not the case.” She opined
that every day in Alaska and the US, people use independent
third parties to resolve disputes that they cannot resolve on
their own. She further stated that the use of independent third
parties such as judges and arbitrators are helpful in resolving
di sputes in an am cable fashion. She reiterated that know edge
t hat an i ndependent decision nmaker wll make a final
determnation also helps to notivate parties to present
reasonabl e proposals that will ultimately achieve a collective
bar gai ni ng agreenent. She concluded by stating that one of the
purposes of the NLRA is to prevent labor strikes and
interruption of interstate comrerce. She further opined that
having binding arbitration at the end of the process encourages
and pronotes that process, not undermne it.

4:42: 40 PM

JOHN BROWN, Retired, Operating Engineers, stated that he spent
15 years working as a business representative and organi zer. He
indicated that he was involved in many canpaigns to create a
union in the workpl ace. M. Brown offered |abor history, such
that the NLRA was created since conmmerce was being disrupted, in
sone instances across whole industries. As a result of the
NLRA, collective bargaining becane the official |abor relations
policy in the US, he opined. He reiterated that prior to
passage of the NLRA, that |abor relations did not work and the
result was that it hurt business and workers. Over the past 70
years, the NLRA still requires both parties to negotiate wth
the purpose of reaching an agreenent. Unfortunately, he
rel ated, penalties do not exist in the law for not reaching an
agreenent . Thus, enployers have |earned ways to avoid being
reasonable and do not cone to the table in good faith to reach
agreenents, he surm sed.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -19- February 11, 2009



4:44: 30 PM

MR BROMW stated that «currently, for whatever reason, the
econony is not wor ki ng, which has placed workers in
circunstances simlar to when the NLRA was enacted. He opined
that the economic situation is due to inbal ance between wage and
profits. He offered his belief that wages have not kept up with
inflation for alnost 40 years. He acknow edged that two sides
exist, the seller and the buyer. M. Brown further opined the
EFCA is an attenpt to bring back balance to the workforce. He
said, “And for those that say we're trying to take away a free
el ection, that is not true.” He noted that if 30 percent of the
enpl oyees want an election, they can call for an election, which
won’ t change under the proposed legislation. He agreed with M.
Brook’ s observation that binding arbitration’s advantage is that
both parties know they nust be reasonable in their negotiations.
Currently, the enployer can w thdraw recognition from the union
when 51 percent of his/her enployees sign an open petition. He
concluded his testinony by enphasizing that the enployer can
require his/her enployees to attend canpai gn neetings while they
are being paid, which he opined does not represent a fair
el ection.

DENNI S KNEBEL, Busi ness Representati ve, | nt er nat i onal
Brot herhood of Electrical Wrkers (IBEW, stated that he has
been an organizer International Brot herhood of Electrica

Workers (I BEW, Local 1547 for alnost five years. He descri bed
a scenario in which he had been asked, in 2007, by nechanics in
a busing conmpany about representation by the |BEW He rel ated
that he subsequently net with day and night shift workers at
Denali National Park and Preserve. He related that by the end
of two neetings he had obtained 100 percent of t he
representation cards signed by the enployees. He offered that
enpl oyees were upset about working conditions such as paying for
their own tools, specific to the conpany buses, and food and
| odgi ng expenses that the conmpany required its enployees to pay.
He pointed out nobst enployees resided in Southcentral or in the
North Star Borough. Addi tionally, enployees paid for room and
board during the tinme they were in their home districts on their
days off. He stated none of the enpl oyees previously had been
menbers of the IBEW although sone had been uni on nenbers. He
said he returned to Anchorage and contacted the enployer,
advi sed the enployer of the signatures, and asked for voluntary
recognition of the union. The conpany decided to hold an
el ection under the NLRA in 45 days. He further opined that
prior to the election, the conpany held one-on-one neetings and

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 20- February 11, 2009



spread runors that sonme enployees were secretly enployed by the
| BEW and woul d receive an increase in their pension if the union
prevail ed.

MR. KNEBEL related that the IBEW |lost the election 8 to 8. He
opi ned an enpl oyee related that he had asked the enployer why he
claimed to be a union nenber when he was not. He said, “He just
shrugged his shoul ders,” and decided not to answer the question.
He further explained that the followng spring he was re-
contacted by the enployees with the sane issues, and additiona

issues to add to their conplaint, including heath care issues.
He stated that one year l|ater the group voted for |BEW
representation. He nmentioned that the enployer and union are
still undergoing contract negotiations. He enphasized tactics
are so conmon that the union has an acronym for them “TIPS,”
which stands for threaten, intimdate, prom se, and spy. He
stressed that HR 5 does not address issues faced by workers
trying to band together for a better future. | nstead, he

surm sed, the resolution is designed to support the -current
broken system that ignores the w shes of working Al askans and
gi ves the power to the conpany.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH asked how nmany elections M. Knebel has
personal |y been invol ved in organi zi ng.

MR. KNEBEL answered that he has been involved in organizing
about a dozen requests for union representation.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH inquired as to the nunber of instances that
t he | BEW prevai |l ed.

MR. KNEBEL related that the IBEW prevailed in about 75 percent

of the time, although contract negotiations are still underway
with sone. In further response to Representative Buch, M.
Knebel answered that the enployers always threaten and

intimdate enpl oyees.
4:52: 05 PM

AVES THOWPSQON, Executive Director, Al aska Trucking Association
Inc. read a prepared statenent:

The Card Check or the Enployee Free Choice ACT (EFCA)

is one of the nobst contentious issues to appear in the
| abor/ managenent arena for nmany years.

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -21- February 11, 2009



The secret ballot is one of the npbst treasured an
envied rights that Americans possess. The EFCA wil |
take away the right of enployees to use the secret
ballot to nake the decision whether to organize in the

wor kpl ace. While many of our nenber conpanies work
with collective bargaining units in their place of
busi ness, many do not. This is not a referendum on

whet her there should be collective bargaining units
but the method by which votes are taken to nake that
deci si on. W Dbelieve that the current mechanisnms
operate fairly giving each enployee the right to nake
their decision in private w thout any undue influence
fromeither the organizers or the enployers.

Secondly, this bill introduces the federal governnent
into the contract negotiation process. This bil
provides that if the parties cannot cone to agreenent
within a specified tine period, a governnent enployee
presi des over binding arbitration and that governnent
enpl oyee can inpose his/her decision on the enployer
and the bargaining unit for a period of up to two
years. It is inpossible to believe that a governnment
arbitrator can have sufficient know edge of the
industry and/or the specific issues in that specific
wor kpl ace to make an educated decision. Additionally,
there is nothing either party can do to change the
arbitrator’s decision for the two year peri od.

There are a nunber of other issues involved in the
EFCA, but we feel that these two issues alone are
sufficient to support this resolution.

On behal f of our nenbers, we urge you to vote yes.
4:54:20 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUVAN asked how many paid union | obbyists are in
the room He answered that he counted eight.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH answered that |obbyists better be in the
room since their job requires them to follow issues of
i nportance to their nenbers.

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN remarked that it mght be nore appropriate
to count constituents in the audi ence.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -22- February 11, 2009



CHAIR OLSON announced that the bill would be held over. He
noted that the commttee would take additional public testinony
on HR 5.

4:56: 58 PM

ADJ QURNVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House

Labor and Commerce Standing Commttee neeting was adjourned at
4:56 p.m

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 23- February 11, 2009



